IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

No. 16-1684

<p>STATE OF IOWA, Plaintiff-Appellee,</p> <p>vs.</p> <p>BRADLEY ELROY WICKES, Defendant-Appellant.</p>	<p>CLINTON COUNTY, No. FECR071368</p>
<p>APPEAL FROM THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT</p> <p>HONORABLE STUART WERLING, DISTRICT COURT JUDGE</p>	

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

Eric D. Puryear, AT0010498
PURYEAR LAW P.C.
3719 Bridge Avenue, Suite 6
Davenport, IA 52807
(p) 563.265.8344
(f) 866.415.5032
eric@puryearlaw.com

Eric S. Mail AT0011435
PURYEAR LAW P.C.
3719 Bridge Avenue, Suite 6
Davenport, IA 52807
(p) 563.265.8344
(f) 866.415.5032
mail@puryearlaw.com

ATTORNEYS FOR THE DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Issue I. Whether substantial evidence exists regarding sexual conduct under the sexual exploitation by a school employee statute when the conduct was merely nonsexual hugs?

AUTHORITIES

State v. Abbas, 561 N.W.2d 72 (Iowa 1997)

State v. Kemp, 688 N.W.2d 785 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Ohrtman, 466 N.W.2d 1 (Minn. Ct. App. 1991)

State v. Romer, 832 N.W.2d 169 (Iowa 2013)

Iowa Code § 235B.2(5)(3)(b)

Iowa Code § 702.17

Iowa Code § 709.15(3)

Iowa R. App. P. 6.4

Webster's New Twentieth Century Dictionary 883 (2nd ed. 1983)

Issue II. Whether substantial evidence exists of a pattern, practice, or scheme of conduct to engage in sexual exploitation by a school employee when there was only one alleged victim and the conduct merely involved a few hugs?

AUTHORITIES

State v. Abbas, 561 N.W.2d 72 (Iowa 1997)

State v. Kemp, 688 N.W.2d 785 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Nicoletto, 845 N.W.2d 421 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Romer, 832 N.W.2d 169 (Iowa 2013)

Iowa Code § 709.15(3)

Iowa Code § 709.15(3)(a)(1)

Iowa Code § 709.15(3)(a)(2)

Iowa Code § 709.15(5)(a)

Iowa Code § 709.15(5)(b)

Iowa R. App. P. 6.4

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.6(1)

Merriam-Webster Dictionary, <http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary>

(last visited February 28, 2017)

Issue III. Whether the trial court erred in ruling on the motion for new trial by using the incorrect standard and failing to independently weigh witness credibility?

AUTHORITIES

State v. Ary, 877 N.W.2d 686 (Iowa 2016)

State v. Curtis, No. 04-1878, 2005 WL 1398337 (Iowa Ct. App. June 15, 2005)

State v. DeMichelis, No. 05-0962, 2006 WL 2267831 (Iowa Ct. App. 2006)

State v. Ellis, 578 N.W.2d 655 (Iowa 1998)

State v. Fister, No. 15-1542, Google Scholar (Iowa Ct. App. Nov. 9, 2016)

State v. Nitcher, 720 N.W.2d 547 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Scalise, 660 N.W.2d 58 (Iowa 2003)

State v. Shanahan, 712 N.W.2d 121 (Iowa 2006)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(2)(b)(6)

Issue IV. Whether the trial court had discretion to defer judgment or suspend the sentence and whether it abused its discretion in sentencing the Appellant to prison for hugs?

AUTHORITIES

State v. Dann, 591 N.W.2d 635 (Iowa 1999)

State v. Grandberry, 619 N.W.2d 399 (Iowa 2000)

State v. Lipovac, No. 3-713/12-1625, Google Scholar (Iowa Ct. App. Oct. 2, 2013)

State v. Loyd, 530 N.W.2d 708 (Iowa 1995)

State v. Romer, 832 N.W.2d 169 (Iowa 2013)

State v. Thomas, 547 N.W.2d 223 (Iowa 1996)

Iowa Code § 232.69

Iowa Code § 702.11

Iowa Code § 702.11(2)(d)

Iowa Code § 709.15

Iowa Code § 901.5

Iowa Code § 907.3

Iowa Code § 907.5

Iowa H.F. 549

Iowa H.F. 661

Iowa R. App. P. 6.907

Issue V. If the trial court had no discretion but to sentence the Appellant to prison, whether the sentencing statute constitutes cruel and unusual punishment under the federal and Iowa constitutions as applied to the facts of this case?

AUTHORITIES

Graham v. Florida, 130 S.Ct. 2011 (2010)

State v. Brooks, 760 N.W.2d 197 (Iowa 2009)

State v. Bruegger, 773 N.W.2d 862 (Iowa 2009)

State v. Oliver, 812 N.W.2d 636 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Parker, 747 N.W.2d 196 (Iowa 2008)

State v. Romer, 832 N.W.2d 169 (Iowa 2013)

Ark. Code § 5-14-125(a)(6)

Colo. Rev. Stat. § 18-3-405.3(1)

Conn. Gen. Stat. § 53a-71(a)(8)

Georgia Code § 16-6-5.1(b)(1)

Iowa Code § 709.15

Iowa Code § 702.11

Iowa Code § 702.11(2)(d)

Iowa Code § 902.9(5)

Kan. Stat. § 21-3520(a)(8)
Maine Rev. Stat. § 254(1)(C)
Maine Rev. Stat. § 255-A(1)(K)
Maine Rev. Stat. § 255-A(1)(L)
Maine Rev. Stat. § 260(1)(F)
Md. Code § 3-308(c)
Mich. Code § 750.520d(1)(e)
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 14-27.7(b)
Nev. Code § 201.540(1)
New Jersey Rev. Stat. § 2C 14-2
Ohio Rev. Code § 2907.03(A)(7)
S.C. Code § 16-3-755(B-D)
Wash. Rev. Code § 9A.44.093
Wash. Rev. Code § 9A.44.096
U.S. Const., amend VIII
Iowa Const., Art. 1, § 17

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court because it presents substantial constitutional questions as to the validity of a statute, substantial issues of first impression, and fundamental and urgent issues of broad public importance requiring prompt or ultimate determination by the Supreme Court. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(a), (c), and (d).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

NATURE OF THE CASE:

The Defendant-Appellant, Bradley Wickes (“Mr. Wickes”), appeals from the district court's ruling, verdict, and sentence in the Scott County District Court for sexual exploitation by a school employee. The Honorable Stuart Werling presided over the bench trial, the motion for new trial hearing, and the sentencing hearing.

COURSE OF PROCEEDING AND DISPOSITION BELOW:

On November 19, 2015, Mr. Wickes was charged by Trial Information with one count—Sexual Exploitation by a School Employee, a Class D felony in violation of Iowa Code §§ 709.15(3)(a)(1) and 709.15(5)(a) (2015). (A3). Mr. Wickes entered a plea of not guilty and waived his right to a jury trial. (A1; A5). The matter proceeded to a bench trial on July 18, 2016. (Bench Trial Tr. p. 1).

On August 11, 2016, the district court issued its findings of fact and conclusions of law. (A15-25). The district court found Mr. Wickes guilty of Sexual Exploitation by a School Employee, a Class D felony. (Verdict Tr. p. 3, lines 21-25 & p. 4, lines 1-2; A24). In relevant part, the district court found as follows:

The evidence establishes that Wickes was a teacher and A.S. was a student within the meaning of the statute. The issue before the Court is this: “Can hugs be sexual conduct within the meaning of 709.15?” It is arguable that the hugs between this teacher and student started out as mere expressions of support. However, by September 20 and thereafter, the clear expression of Wickes' emotional needs and intent was that the hugs became a tool for his sexual gratification. As in *Romer*, Wickes' sexual gratification was from the emotional intimacy exchanged between him and the student during the hugs and the intense emotional exchange in the messages he shared with the student. As in *Romer*, there was no sex act between the teacher and student as such is defined by the Code. However, in this instance, unlike *Romer*, there was physical contact between the teacher and student. The Court therefore **FINDS** that hugging can satisfy the statutory requirements of sexual gratification as defined in *Romer* and in 709.15(3)(a)(1) and 709.15(5)(a) of the Code of Iowa (2015). If a hug is given or received for the sexual gratification of Wickes or A.S., then such conduct is “sexual conduct” under the Code. The Court **FINDS** Wickes' hugging of A.S. was for his sexual gratification and it was therefore sexual conduct.

(A23) (emphasis in original). *See generally*, Verdict Tr. pp. 1-2. The district court set the matter for sentencing and ordered that a presentence investigation report be prepared. (Verdict Tr. p. 4 lines 3-9; A24).

On August 24, 2016, Mr. Wickes filed a motion for new trial and a motion in arrest of judgment. (A26-A31). The district court denied the motions at sentencing, finding merely “that based on the whole record there is substantial evidence to support the decision and verdict of the Court, that the evidence, when weighed, weighs in favor of the verdict. . . .” (Motions & Sent. Tr. p. 4, lines 5-10; A53).

On October 6, 2016, the district court sentenced Mr. Wickes to an indeterminate term of prison not to exceed five years, a \$750 fine, a thirty-five percent surcharge, court costs, submit a DNA sample, a ten-year special sentence, a \$250 civil penalty, placement on the Sex Offender Registry, and a no contact order be entered. (Motions & Sent. Tr. p. 15, lines 21-25, p. 16, lines 1-18 & p. 17, lines 11-12; A53).

On October 6, 2016, Mr. Wickes filed his Notice of Appeal (A56).

FACTS:

In the fall of 2015, Mr. Wickes was a social studies teacher at the Camanche High School. (Bench Trial Tr. p. 11, lines 19-25 & p. 12, lines 1-

4). At that time, A.S. was a senior at the high school and was in Mr. Wickes' social studies class. (Bench Trial Tr. p. 51, lines 12-17 & p. 52, lines 5-7).

From August 21, 2015, through October 5, 2015, Mr. Wickes and A.S. engaged in Facebook conversation for six weeks, totaling over 600 messages exchanged between the two. (Bench Trial Tr. p. 52, lines 21-25 & p. 53, lines 1-3). *See generally*, State's Exhibit 1 (A58-A703). The messaging started around the time that A.S. had given Mr. Wickes an English paper to proofread for her. (Bench Trial Tr. p. 19, lines 7-14). Mr. Wickes initiated conversation on Facebook messenger, as it appeared that A.S. was struggling with some issues in her personal life. (Bench Trial Tr. p. 19, lines 23-25 & p. 20, lines 1-2). Initially, the messages were about A.S.'s struggles but then the messages turned flirty in nature. (Bench Trial Tr. p. 22, lines 18-23).

However, Mr. Wickes had no romantic intentions toward A.S. (Bench Trial Tr. p. 23, lines 10-14). Regarding A.S.'s intentions, Mr. Wickes believed that A.S. thought there was more involved than Mr. Wickes did. (Bench Trial Tr. p. 23, lines 15-18).

Mr. Wickes and A.S. exchanged hugs on a couple of occasions. (Bench Trial Tr. p. 25, lines 1-6 & p. 64, lines 19-22). The hugs were the “type of hug you would give to someone after they had been crying” and were not sexual in nature. (Bench Trial Tr. p. 25, lines 12-17, p. 27, lines 14-17 & p. 65, lines 5-7). *See generally*, State's Exhibit 9 (DVD of police interview). Both parties were fully clothed, and Mr. Wickes did not grab or touch A.S. in a sexual manner. (Bench Trial Tr. p. 65, lines 2-7). Other than the hugs,

there was no physical contact between Mr. Wickes and A.S., including any sexual conduct or contact. (Bench Trial Tr. p. 27, lines 18-20, p. 30, lines 2-7, p. 64, lines 23-25 & p. 65, line 1). Besides A.S., Mr. Wickes has hugged many other students, including at graduation. (Bench Trial Tr. p. 46, lines 22-24, p. 47, line 25 & p. 48, line 1).

At the time of the sentencing hearing, Mr. Wickes was 37-years-old, had no prior criminal history, had a stable employment history and was currently employed, had several post-secondary degrees, including a bachelor's degree and a master's degree in special education, had family support in the community, including his wife and three minor children, resided in Illinois, and had mental health diagnoses for which he is seeking treatment and counseling. (A32-A35, A38-A39 & A41). In terms of recommendations, the Department of Correctional Services indicated it had assessed the Defendant's risk to re-offend and testing indicated that the Defendant scored in the low category for future violence and the low-minimum category for future victimization. (A43). Testing further indicated that the Defendant would be supervised initially at a low level of supervision should he be supervised in the community. (A43).

In terms of sentencing, the prosecution believed that the district court had no choice but to sentence Mr. Wickes to prison under Iowa Code section 907.3; even if the district court had discretion, the prosecution requested incarceration. (Motions & Sent. Tr. p. 4, lines 17-25, p. 5, lines 1-25 & p. 6, lines 2-22). On the other hand, Mr. Wickes believed he was eligible for a

deferred judgment or a suspended sentence under the statute; even if he was not eligible for either of these and prison was required under the statute, Mr. Wickes argued that sentencing him to prison for hugs constituted cruel and unusual punishment as applied to him in violation of the federal and Iowa constitutions. (Motions & Sent. Tr. p. 12, lines 14-25 & p. 13, lines 1-15; A44-A52).

Even if Mr. Wickes is eligible under the sentencing statute for a deferred judgment or a suspended sentence, the district court found doing either would be inappropriate in this case “based on the seriousness of this offense and the depth of the betrayal of this position of trust and mentorship that society has given to him.” (Motions & Sent. Tr. p. 15, lines 10-15). The district court focused on the hugs and the Facebook messages in concluding that a prison sentence was appropriate. (Motions & Sent. Tr. p. 14, lines 3-25 & p. 15, lines 1-9). The district court also found that incarceration was appropriate, considering “the issues of protection of the public, the opportunity for Mr. Wickes to reflect upon the seriousness of his conduct, and his lack of remorse. . . .” (Motions & Sent. Tr. p. 15, lines 16-20).

Additional facts relevant to this appeal will be discussed below.

ARGUMENT

I. Substantial Evidence Does not Exist to Support a Finding of Sexual Conduct under the Sexual Exploitation by a School Employee Statute when the Conduct Was Merely Nonsexual Hugs.

Preservation of Error: Mr. Wickes preserved error by making a motion for judgment of acquittal, arguing that the hugs at issue do not constitute sexual conduct under the sexual exploitation by a school employee statute. (A9-A14). *See generally* Bench Trial Tr. pp. 90-97. The district court denied the motion for judgment of acquittal. (Bench Tr. Tr. p. 104, lines 19-25 & p. 105, lines 1-23). Therefore, error has been preserved.

When a trial is conducted to the bench, the defendant-appellant may challenge the sufficiency of the evidence on appeal regardless of whether a motion for judgment of acquittal was made. *State v. Abbas*, 561 N.W.2d 72, 74 (Iowa 1997).

Standard of Review: Appellate court review of a sufficiency of the evidence claim is for correction of errors at law. Iowa R. App. P. 6.4; *State v. Kemp*, 688 N.W.2d 785, 788 (Iowa 2004).

Discussion: The appellate court reviews the district court's findings in a bench trial as it would a jury verdict. *Kemp*, 688 N.W.2d at 788-89. A verdict must be upheld if supported by substantial evidence. *Id.* at 789. Evidence is substantial if it would convince a fact finder that the defendant is guilty of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *Abbas*, 561 N.W.2d at 74.

In considering whether there is substantial evidence, the evidence is viewed in the light most favorable to the State, along with legitimate inferences that may reasonably be deduced from the evidence in the record. *Id.* The appellate court must also consider all of the evidence in the record and not just that which supports a finding of guilt. *Id.* The State must prove every element necessary to constitute the crime charged. *Kemp*, 688 N.W.2d at 789. The evidence must raise a “fair inference of guilt” and not create “speculation, suspicion, or conjecture.” *Id.*

Under Iowa Code section 709.15(3), sexual exploitation by a school employee occurs when any of the following is found:

- (1) A pattern or practice or scheme of conduct to engage in any of the conduct described in subparagraph 2.
- (2) Any sexual conduct with a student for the purpose of arousing or satisfying the sexual desires of the school employee or the student. Sexual conduct includes but is not limited to the following:
 - (a) Kissing.
 - (b) Touching of the clothed or unclothed inner thigh, breast, groin, buttock, anus, pubes, or genitals.
 - (c) A sex act as defined in section 702.17.

Iowa Code § 709.15(3). Furthermore, under section 702.17, a “sex act” is defined as any sexual contact between two or more persons by any of the following:

1. Penetration of the penis into the vagina or anus.
2. Contact between the mouth and genitalia or by contact between the genitalia of one person and the genitalia or anus of another person.
3. Contact between the finger or hand of one person and the

genitalia or anus of another person, except in the course of examination or treatment by a person licensed. . . .

4. Ejaculation onto the person of another.

5. By use of artificial sexual organs or substitutes therefor in contact with the genitalia or anus.

Id. § 702.17.

Recently, the Iowa Supreme Court has interpreted the sexual exploitation by a school employee statute. *State v. Romer*, 832 N.W.2d 169 (Iowa 2013). In *State v. Romer*, a teacher had an ongoing sexual relationship with one student and on two occasions photographed nude students in various sexual poses that he had suggested. *Id.* at 173. The photographs depict students kissing, touching another's breasts, and touching another's genital area. *Id.* The issue before the Iowa Supreme Court was whether section 709.15(3) requires some physical contact. *Id.* at 178. By engaging in statutory construction, the Iowa Supreme Court found that the statute does not require physical contact. *Id.* at 181. Specifically, “engage in” means to “employ or involve oneself.” *Id.* at 179. In addition, the statute is not limited to the actions specifically listed in the statute. *Id.* at 180. The defendant in *Romer* persuaded and induced students to engage in prohibited sexual conduct and photographed the conduct. *Id.* at 181. Specifically, he engaged in interactive conduct with the students, who in

turn engaged in sexual conduct based on his instructions. *Id.*

Although *Romer* did not involve physical contact between himself and the students when he orchestrated a sexually suggestive photo session, there was physical contact between Mr. Wickes and A.S., namely hugs that were exchanged. The question is whether under section 709.15(3) hugs can constitute “sexual conduct.” Mr. Wickes argues that the hugs at issue in this case do not constitute “sexual conduct” under the statute.

Specifically, hugs are not listed as “sexual” conduct under the statute. Nonetheless, a similar statute dealing with sexual exploitation of a dependent adult by a caretaker is instructive on this issue. Under section 235B.2(5)(3)(b), sexual exploitation is defined as follows:

[A]ny consensual or nonconsensual sexual conduct with a dependent adult which includes but is not limited to kissing; touching of the clothed or unclothed inner thigh, breast, groin, buttock, anus, pubes, or genitals; or a sex act, as defined in section 702.17. “Sexual exploitation” includes the transmission, display, taking of electronic images of the unclothed breast, groin, buttock, anus, pubes, or genitals of a dependent adult by a caretaker for a purpose not related to treatment or diagnosis or as part of an ongoing assessment, evaluation, or investigation. Sexual exploitation does not include touching which is part of a necessary examination, treatment, or care by a caretaker acting within the scope of the practice or employment of the caretaker; *the exchange of a brief touch or hug between the dependent adult and caretaker for the purpose of reassurance, comfort, or casual friendship*; or touching between spouses.

Iowa Code § 235B.2(5)(3)(b) (emphasis added). Therefore, hugs that are given for “reassurance, comfort, or casual friendship” do not constitute

“sexual conduct.” Hugs that are not given for reassurance, comfort, or casual friendship and are sexual in nature would presumably constitute “sexual conduct.”

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