IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Supreme Court No. 16–1684

STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

BRADLEY ELROY WICKES,
Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR CLINTON COUNTY
THE HON. STUART P. WERLING, JUDGE

APPELLEE’S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER
Attorney General of Iowa

LOUIS S. SLOVEN
Assistant Attorney General
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-5976
Louie.Sloven@iowa.gov

MIKE WOLF
Clinton County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

the will of an inexperienced and needful 17-year-old woman”—and, indeed, those hugs appears to have played a key role in those efforts as Wickes “entice[d] A.S. into an ever more intimate relationship.” *See* Order and Ruling (8/11/16) at 4–5; App. 18–19. Without them, there would be no sexual banter or discussion of turn-ons/fantasies, which Wickes clearly instigated, pursued, and enjoyed. *See* State’s Ex. 1 at 284–88, 393–95; 518–23, 597–611; App. 341, 440, 575, 654.

In sum, the record makes it abundantly clear that those hugs became sexual conduct as Wickes and A.S. grew more intimate—Wickes pushed those hugs as a cornerstone of their relationship to arouse/ignite sexual desires within A.S. and to gratify his own. *See* Order and Ruling (8/11/16) at 9; App. 23 (“[B]y September 20 and thereafter, the clear expression of Wickes’ emotional needs and intent was that the hugs became a tool for his sexual gratification.”). Even *State v. Ohrtman*, the Minnesota Court of Appeals case on which Wickes relies, noted that “it is thinkable to include hugging within criminality where coercion is not an element of the crime”—like when the charge is exploitation by a school employee—because “there is offensive conduct when an adult exploits a child with a sexual hug” and “[t]he legislature likely wanted to stop such hugs to the extent it could.”

See State v. Ohrtman, 466 N.W.2d 1, 4 (Minn. Ct. App. 1991); *cf. State v. Murray*, No. C7-92-468, 1992 WL 333617, at *3 (Minn. Ct. App. Nov. 17, 1992) (distinguishing *Ohrtman* where “[t]he record indicates that the hugs did go beyond ordinary social contact and into the sexual realm”). This Court should decline to close its eyes to the sexual dimensions of these hugs in the context of the intensifying relationship between Wickes/A.S., and it should reject this challenge.

Alternatively, note that Wickes was convicted under section 709.15(3)(a)(1) because the trial court found “the existence of a ‘pattern, practice, or scheme of conduct’ by Wickes to engage in sexual conduct with A.S.” *See* Order and Ruling (8/11/16) at 3–10; App. 17–24. As such, even if no sexual conduct actually occurred, this conviction could stand upon the trial court’s finding that Wickes used Facebook chats and other interactions to entice A.S. into an intense emotional bond, intending for sexual contact to follow. *See id.* at 4–9; App. 18–23; *see also* TrialTr. p.100,ln.1–p.101,ln.19.

Section 709.15(3)(a)(1) enables this conviction to stand without any actual sexual conduct—the phrase “scheme of conduct to engage in any [sexual] conduct” does not require that scheme be successful. *See* Iowa Code § 709.15(3)(a)(1). Like a criminal conspiracy, the crime

is the deliberate attempt to accomplish a prohibited result, even when acts done to further that “scheme of conduct” are otherwise lawful:

Unlawful acts frequently if not usually include as a part of the *scheme of conduct* acts which, standing alone, would be lawful. This joining of the lawful with the unlawful does not forbid the consideration of such lawful acts as a part of the greater whole. The carrying out of an unlawful conspiracy usually involves the doing of many acts which of themselves would be lawful and harmless. As parts of a conspiracy, even lawful acts become unlawful.

Rader v. Elliot, 163 N.W. 406, 407–08 (Iowa 1917) (emphasis added).

A violation of section 709.15(3)(1)(a) is a Class D felony, while a violation of section 709.15(3)(1)(b) is an aggravated misdemeanor. This indicates that sexual conduct that occurs just once *and* occurs through circumstances that come about by chance or happenstance—like a “crime of opportunity”—is ultimately viewed by the Legislature as less serious than sexual exploitation of students that occurs on an ongoing basis (“pattern or practice”) and less serious than deliberate attempts by school employees to orchestrate situations where those opportunities for sexual contact may arise or to maneuver themselves into inappropriately intimate relationships with students with the aim of subsequently engaging in sexual contact (“scheme of conduct”). This is quite rational, “[g]iven the important goals of providing a safe school environment for children and preventing sexual exploitation”

especially when school employees “have unique access to children, often in an unsupervised context, and can use that access to groom or coerce children or young adults into exploitive or abusive conduct.” *State v. Hirschfelder*, 242 P.3d 876, 883–84 (Wash. 2010) (quoting *State v. Clinkenbeard*, 123 P.3d 872, 880 (Wash. Ct. App. 2005)).

To illustrate, consider the difference between attempted murder and voluntary manslaughter. *See* Iowa Code §§ 707.4, 707.11. While voluntary manslaughter involves a completed homicidal act, it is still viewed with comparative leniency because that homicide is impulsive, rather than deliberately and painstakingly undertaken. *See* Iowa Code § 707.4 (murder becomes voluntary manslaughter when “the person causing the death acts solely as the result of sudden, violent, and irresistible passion resulting from serious provocation” and when the killing happens before a reasonable person could “regain control”). Attempted murder involves *no* completed homicide—but those who deliberately act “with the intent to cause the death of another person and not under circumstances which would justify the person’s actions” are more culpable than those who kill when provoked—even when the failed murder schemes had no chance of succeeding. *See* Iowa Code § 707.11(1), (3). The legislature has chosen to punish a failed attempt as

a Class B felony, while actual killings precipitated by passion/impulse are punished with leniency and designated Class C felonies. *Compare* Iowa Code § 707.4(2), *with* Iowa Code § 707.11(2); *see also* Iowa Code § 902.9(1)(b) & (d). And the legislature made a similar choice here, in determining that school employees who devise a “scheme of conduct” to engage in sexual conduct with students merit more punishment than those acting impulsively—even if those schemes ultimately fail.

The impact is that *actual* sexual conduct is not an indispensably necessary element of the offense that Wickes was convicted of—and if this Court disagrees with the trial court and determines that no actual sexual conduct occurred as a matter of law, it should remand for the trial court to make new findings under the correct interpretation of the law (instead of remanding for dismissal with prejudice). *See, e.g., State v. Robinson*, 506 N.W.2d 769, 770–71 (Iowa 1993) (“If we find an incorrect legal standard was applied, we remand for new findings and application of the correct standard.”); *State v. Irvin*, 334 N.W.2d 312, 316 (Iowa Ct. App. 1983) (“We believe that the making of new conclusions of law is the appropriate vehicle to correct the error of law involved here, not the granting of a new trial.”). Of course, since this hugging *was* actual sexual conduct, this Court need not remand.

II. Substantial Evidence Supports the Conclusion That Wickes Implemented “a Pattern or Practice or Scheme” to Engage in Sexual Conduct with A.S. at a Later Point.

Preservation of Error

“[W]hen a criminal case is tried to the court, a defendant may challenge the sufficiency of the evidence on appeal irrespective of whether a motion for judgment of acquittal was previously made.”

See Abbas, 561 N.W.2d at 73–74.

Standard of Review

“Sufficiency of evidence claims are reviewed for a correction of errors at law.” *Sanford*, 814 N.W.2d at 615.

Merits

The State proved Wickes implemented a “scheme of conduct to engage in . . . sexual conduct with a student for the purpose of arousing or satisfying the sexual desires of the school employee or the student.” *See Iowa Code* § 709.15(3)(a)(1)–(2). This language encompasses both ongoing patterns of sexual conduct and any/all preparatory grooming. Even if this Court agrees that sexual conduct occurred, the State still needed to demonstrate a “pattern or practice or scheme of conduct” to elevate this from an aggravated misdemeanor to a Class D felony. *See Iowa Code* § 709.15(5)(a).

Wickes argues that *Romer* implies that phrase may require “many different student victims and conduct that occurred at various locations over the course of years.” See Def’s Br. at 21–22. But *Romer* only analyzed the “common scheme or plan” requirement for joinder of multiple charges in a single trial, under Rule 2.6(1)—that analysis did not construe the operative language of section 709.15(3)(a)(1). See *Romer*, 832 N.W.2d at 181–83. To the extent *Romer* offers guidance, it helps illuminate the meaning of the term “scheme”—which can exist where “there was no temporal proximity and the modus operandi was dissimilar” between incidents. See *id.* at 182 (citing *State v. Elston*, 735 N.W.2d 196, 200 (Iowa 2007)).

This case bears some similarities to *Walker v. State*, 47 A.3d 590, 598–604 (Md. Ct. Spec. App. 2012). In that case, the Maryland Court of Special Appeals considered whether a teacher committed sexual abuse of a minor when he sent love notes to a third-grade student and gave her frequent hugs. The trial court’s ruling said:

The notes he sent to her professed his love for her, his desire to spend time with her, share his dreams and fantasies including sleeping with her in his arms. He also told her he thought about kissing her but wouldn’t do it if she didn’t want him to. But certainly put that invitation out there for a future event.

[. . .]

Sexual acts are not only limited to physical acts. . . . These letters set the stage for future acts and were extremely suggesting in an inappropriate and sexual manner. Certainly not the types of letters a thirty eight year old man in his position should send to an eight year old girl. As I mentioned, he used these actions in order to gain her trust and then subsequently abused her trust.

. . . I know there's a suggestion that the letters were inappropriate and perhaps passionate but not sexual in nature. It's hard to read these letters, including the totality of these letters, and not find that they were sexual from the standpoint that the passionate comments they contained bordered, almost border on obsession, contained expressions of jealousy and certainly had sexual undertones.

Walker, 47 A.3d at 604–05. The *Walker* court agreed and said that notwithstanding the absence of any completed/attempted sex act, “the sheer volume of letters evidenced a fascination or attachment of a sexual nature” and indicated that the teacher’s course of conduct was of an unmistakably sexual character. *See id.* at 607–13.

Similarly, this Court should not limit its “scheme of conduct” analysis to the hugs alone—the entirety of the Facebook conversation is relevant to show the aim/scope of this scheme. “Wickes’ sexual gratification was from the emotional intimacy exchanged between him and the student during the hugs *and* in the intense emotional exchanges in the messages he shared with a student.” *See VerdictTr.* p.2,ln.13–p.3,ln.11 (emphasis added). The written ruling elaborated:

Not only is the volume and frequency of the exchanges between teacher and student troubling, so is the emotional intensity within these exchanges. Wickes discloses to A.S. the most intimate details of his marriage, including his sexual frustrations and disappointments and his complaints about his wife and plans to leave her. He also entices A.S. into an ever more intimate relationship through flirtation and compliments. To say such exchanges between a high school teacher and his student are inappropriate is an understatement. Certainly, such emotional intensity could overwhelm the will of an inexperienced and needful 17-year-old woman. *The Court believes such was the plan and intention of Wickes.* In reading the messages as exchanged between Wickes and A.S., one can see a gradual escalation of the intimacy and a process of grooming in which Wickes prepares A.S. to accept ever more intimacy.

Order and Ruling (8/11/16) at 4–5; App. 18–19 (emphasis added).

Simply put, even if Wickes did not derive sexual arousal/gratification from the substance of his conversations with A.S. (which is unlikely given the sexualized nature of discussions, especially near the end), the entire “shoulder to cry on late at night” routine can be seen as a ploy to help build the foundation for a romantic relationship—and Wickes offered A.S. more than enough sexualized flattery to support an inference that his efforts were motivated by sexual desire, at least in part. *See State’s Ex. 1* at 284–88, 407–11; 518–23, 597–611; App. 341–45, 464–68, 575–80, 654–68. Wickes cannot undermine the clear evidence of this “scheme of conduct.” His sufficiency claim fails.

III. The Trial Court Did Not Err in Ruling on the Weight-of-the-Evidence Challenge. It Did Not Apply a Sufficiency-of-the-Evidence Standard in Its Ruling.

Preservation of Error

This “wrong standard” challenge is governed by the rule that error is preserved when the motion for new trial cites Rule 2.24(2). *See, e.g., State v. Downs*, No. 15–0900, 2016 WL 6652343, at *6 n.8 (Iowa Ct. App. Nov. 9, 2016). The defendant’s motion for new trial cited Rule 2.24(2) and attacked witnesses’ credibility. *See* Motion for New Trial (8/24/16) at 2–5; App. 27–30. Thus, error was preserved.

Standard of Review

The ruling denying the motion for new trial is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *See State v. Nitcher*, 720 N.W.2d 547, 559 (Iowa 2006). “However, we review a claim that the district court failed to apply the proper standard in ruling on a motion for new trial for errors at law.” *Downs*, 2016 WL 6652343, at *6 (quoting *State v. Ary*, 877 N.W.2d 686, 706 (Iowa 2016)).

Merits

“Unlike the sufficiency-of-the-evidence analysis, the weight-of-the-evidence analysis is much broader in that it involves questions of credibility and refers to a determination that more credible evidence supports one side than the other.” *See Nitcher*, 720 N.W.2d at 559.

The district court *did* apply that standard. When it ruled on the motion for new trial, it said this:

Having reviewed the motions, the motion in arrest and motion for new trial, the Court finds that based on the whole record there is substantial evidence to support the decision and verdict of the Court, *that the evidence, when weighed, weighs in favor of the verdict*, and accordingly will deny both motions.

Sent.Tr. p.5,ln.5–10 (emphasis added). There is no reversible error here.

Wickes argues that this case is like *State v. Fister*, No. 15-1542, 2016 WL 6636688, at *5–7 (Iowa Ct. App. Nov. 9, 2016) because “the district court failed to analyze the evidence and independently weigh the witnesses’ credibility.” *See* Def’s Br. at 25. But in *Fister*, the court improperly *delegated* the credibility-assessment function to the jury, “deferred to the jury’s credibility determination,” and did not engage in any of the credibility-weighting it was required to do. *See Fister*, 2016 WL 6636688 at *6. Here, because this was a bench trial, there was no opportunity for *Fister* error—even if the court deferred to its prior assessment of the evidence, it would be relying on *its own* view of the credibility/weight of the evidence at issue. Moreover, unlike in *Fister*, the court expressly stated that it was weighing the evidence in ruling on Wickes’ motion for new trial. *See* Sent.Tr. p.5,ln.5–10. The trial court clearly applied the right standard, and this challenge fails.

IV. The Sentencing Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion When It Imposed a Prison Sentence.

Preservation of Error

Generally applicable rules of error preservation do not apply. Wickes may challenge his sentence as defective for the first time on appeal. *See Lathrop v. State*, 781 N.W.2d 288, 292–93 (Iowa 2010).

Standard of Review

“Appellate review of the district court’s sentencing decision is for an abuse of discretion.” *State v. Evans*, 672 N.W.2d 328, 331–32 (Iowa 2003) (citing *State v. Laffey*, 600 N.W.2d 57, 62 (Iowa 1999)).

Merits

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